2010

Lori S. Allen v. Lisa K. Anger : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court had original jurisdiction to hear this appeal under section 78A-3-102(3)(j). UTAH CODE ANN. (2008). The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to section 78A-4-103(2)(j), as this is a “case[] transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court.” UTAH CODE ANN. (2008).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue: Did the trial court correctly interpret Utah Code section 76-5-106.5 when it held that the elements of the stalking statute were satisfied and that Petitioner was entitled to a civil stalking injunction? UTAH CODE ANN. (2003).

Standard of Review: “The proper interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law which [the court] review[s] for correctness, affording no deference to the district court's legal conclusion.” *Gutierrez v. Medley*, 972 P.2d 913, 914-15 (Utah 1998); *Abernathy v. Mzik*, 2007 UT App 259, ¶ 9, 167 P.3d 512. “If a case involves a mixed question of fact and law, [the reviewing court] afford[s] some measure of discretion to the district court's application of” law to facts. *State v. Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, ¶ 26, 63 P.3d 650; *see also Jensen v. IHC Hosps., Inc.*, 2003 UT 51, ¶ 57, 82 P.3d 1076.

Issue Preserved for Appeal: Appellant preserved this issue for appeal by arguing the issue to the District Court in her Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss, Entering Sanctions and Attorney Fees, filed on January 30, 2008). (R. 25-27.) Appellant also argued the issue orally at the trial. (R. 145 at 84-89.)

**PROVISIONS OF CONSTITUTIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND
REGULATIONS WHICH ARE DETERMINATIVE OR OF CENTRAL
IMPORTANCE**

There are no constitutional provisions, ordinances, rules, or regulations that are determinative of this case.

Statutes:

UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-5-106.5 (2003) provides in relevant part (note that this section (76-5-106.5) was significantly amended, but not renumbered, in 2008. The previous version is cited because it was in effect at the time of the alleged stalking):

76-5-106.5. Definitions -- Stalking -- Injunction -- Hearing.

(1) As used in this section:

(a) "Course of conduct" means repeatedly maintaining a visual or physical proximity to a person or repeatedly conveying verbal or written threats or threats implied by conduct or a combination thereof directed at or toward a person.

(b) "Immediate family" means a spouse, parent, child, sibling, or any other person who regularly resides in the household or who regularly resided in the household within the prior six months.

(c) "Repeatedly" means on two or more occasions.

(2) A person is guilty of stalking who:

(a) intentionally or knowingly engages in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person:

(i) to fear bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or

- (ii) to suffer emotional distress to himself or a member of his immediate family;
- (b) has knowledge or should have knowledge that the specific person:
 - (i) will be placed in reasonable fear of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or
 - (ii) will suffer emotional distress or a member of his immediate family will suffer emotional distress; and
- (c) whose conduct:
 - (i) induces fear in the specific person of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or
 - (ii) causes emotional distress in the specific person or a member of his immediate family.

....

UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-3a-101 (2008) provides in relevant part (note that although the section was amended in 2008, the changes included a stylistic change and one other minor change, which do not affect the analysis of the statute. Therefore, the current version is cited for convenience):

77-3a-101. Civil stalking injunction -- Petition -- Ex parte injunction.

(1) As used in this chapter, "stalking" means the crime of stalking as defined in Section 76-5-106.5. Stalking injunctions may not be obtained against law enforcement officers, governmental investigators, or licensed private investigators, acting in their official capacity.

(2) Any person who believes that he or she is the victim of stalking may file a verified written petition for a civil stalking injunction against the alleged stalker with the district court in the district in which the petitioner or respondent resides or in which any of the events occurred. A minor with his or her parent or guardian may file a petition on his or her own behalf, or a parent, guardian, or custodian may file a petition on the minor's behalf.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a civil stalking injunction obtained by Lori Allen against her sister, Lisa Anger. In her affidavit in support of her request for a civil stalking injunction Lori Allen alleged that her sister participated in making a website and passing out flyers that harmed her and her family and that Lisa also helped her daughter file an emancipation petition. (R. 10, ¶¶ 4-5.) Ms. Allen also alleged that after asking her sister Lisa Anger not to contact her or her children, Lisa came to her house without permission on two occasions and made other contacts with her children. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 6-18.)

An ex parte stalking injunction was issued on Nov. 20, 2007. (R. 12.) Lisa Anger requested a hearing and after two hearings, the court issued a civil stalking injunction order on Dec. 2, 2009 against Lisa Anger. (R. 131.) This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Parties and Involved Individuals

1. Appellee/Petitioner Lori Allen and Appellant/Respondent Lisa Anger are sisters. (R. 145 at 5.)

2. Lori Allen has four children: Chandra Robb, Mikayla Robb, Kira Robb, and Alaina Robb. Chandra is the daughter who was sent to the teen ranch in southern Utah. (R. 144 at 6, 8.)
3. Steve Allen is Lori Allen's Husband. (R. 145 at 46-47.)
4. Eric Richins is the brother of Petitioner and Respondent. (R. 145 at 46-47.)
5. Nathan Richins is the brother of Petitioner and Respondent. (R. 145 at 46-47.)
6. Jeremiah Anger is Lisa Anger's husband. (R. 145 at 46-47.)

General Background

7. Lisa Anger testified that "[f]or about nine years I had [Lori Allen's four] children with me a majority of their lives" because Lori Allen was going to night school and working days and also during the time of Lori Allen's five-year divorce with her husband, which ended in suicide. (R. 145 at 98.)
8. Lisa Anger also testified that Lori Allen had a physical altercation with her two oldest children in October 2006 and had gone to institutionalize herself, and said she could no longer handle her children. (R. 145 at 95-96.)

Teen Ranch

9. At the beginning of November, 2006, Lori Allen decided to send her oldest daughter, Chandra Robb, to a teen ranch in southern Utah. (R. 144 at 6, 8.)
10. Some of Ms. Allen's family members, including Ms. Anger, disagreed with Ms. Allen's decision to send Chandra to the teen ranch. (R. 145 at 48.)

Family Meeting

11. A family meeting took place on November 5, 2006, at the residence of Ms. Allen, with the apparent objective to persuade Ms. Allen to remove Chandra from the teen ranch. (R. 145 at 46, 48, 57, 58.)
12. The individuals present at the family meeting included Lori Allen (Petitioner), Steve Allen (Lori's husband), Nathan Richins (brother of Petitioner and Respondent), Eric Richins (brother of Petitioner and Respondent), Lisa Anger (Respondent), and Jeremiah Anger (Lisa's husband). (R. 145 at 46-47.)
13. Eric and Nathan asked Lori Allen to bring Chandra home from Turn About Ranch. (R. 145 at 48.)
14. The discussion at the meeting became heated. Steve Allen testified that there was "[l]ots and lots of yelling. It seemed to me everyone was against Lori, and that they wouldn't let her say a word edgewise. She couldn't defend herself without being cutoff and yelled at some more." (R. 145 at 58.)
15. Steven Allen testified that Lisa Anger was doing most of the yelling, (R. 145 at 63.), and Ms. Allen testified similarly, (R. 145 at 30.) There was testimony that others at the family meeting were yelling as well, including Lori Allen. (R. 145 at 63, 77, 100.)
16. Lori testified that after they left she started getting a migraine for which she was hospitalized for three days just before Thanksgiving in 2006. (R. 145 at 30.) Steven Allen testified that was her fourth time in the emergency room. (R. 145 at 60.) Lori stated that she had problems with migraines until February, 2007. (R. 145 at 30.)

Website and Flyers

17. In an effort to get Chandra out of the teen ranch, some of Ms. Allen's family members, including Lisa Anger, collaborated in creating a website and passing out flyers. (R. 131-32; R. 145 at 8-9, 70, 128, 129.)

Website

18. The family members created the website for the purpose of obtaining the release of Chandra from the teen ranch. (R. 145 at 69; *see* R. 147 at Exhibit No. 1 for a copy of the website.)

19. The website displayed contact information for Lori Allen and Steve Allen, including home phone numbers, work phone numbers, email addresses, and also listed their employers. (R. 144 at 7; R. 145 at 5.)

20. The website included a picture of Chandra, and the website stated her location and age. (R. 144 at 7.)

21. A picture of Steve Allen was posted on the website. (R. 144 at 10.)

22. The website encouraged people to call Mark Shurtleff and CPS. (R. 144 at 10; R. 145 at 93.)

Flyers

23. Lisa Anger testified that she photocopied flyers that her sister Wendy made, which flyers directed people to the website. (R. 145 at 128; *see also* 73-74, 101.) Nathan also testified that Wendy created the website and that he took a photo of Steve Allen which was posted on the website. (R. 145 at 79.)

24. Nathan testified that the reason Lisa Anger gave as to why personal information was displayed was “[s]o that people would call them and express their feelings.”

(R. 145 at 72.)

25. Ms. Anger stated that she sent pictures to Wendy which were used in the website.

(R. 145 at 101, 127.)

26. Ms. Anger gave the flyers to her two brothers and a friend and asked them to distribute them. (R. 145 at 73-74, 101.)

27. Nathan testified that Lisa Anger told him where to distribute the flyers: “[t]he main target places were their church, work places, neighborhoods, people that knew her, for the most part.” (R. 145 at 73-74.)

28. The flyers were distributed in the neighborhood of Ms. Allen, around her church ward, around her workplace, and on cars around her husband’s workplace. (R. 144 at 6, 8; R. 145 at 58.)

29. Lori Allen’s own children were also involved in distributing the flyers. Ms. Allen testified that “[s]omeone . . . took my children around . . . to distribute these flyers too.” (R. 144 at 9.)

30. Lisa Anger testified that the personal information such as phone numbers and employers were taken off when the flyers were passed out. (R. 144 at 130.)

Results of Flyers and Website

31. Lori Allen testified that as a result of her contact information being posted on the website, some people called her to harass her. (R. 144 at 7, 11.) To her knowledge, she did not receive any harassing emails. (R. 144 at 7, 12.)

32. Lori Allen testified that she was afraid she would lose her job because of the flyers. (R. 144 at 12.)
33. Ms. Allen also testified that she was fearful that anyone on the Internet would be able to find her and her family members, and had concerns for the safety of her children. (R. 145 at 16-17.)
34. Ms. Allen also objected to the website and flyers because it interfered with her parental authority. (R. 145 at 17.)
35. Steve Allen testified that Lori Allen was emotionally impacted during this time: “[Lori Allen] was just crying a lot, and just really, really frustrated and upset.” (R. 145 at 61.)
36. Mr. Allen stated that his employment and work relationships were negatively impacted by the flyers and website. (R. 145 at 59.)
37. Steve Allen also testified that their relationship with their neighbors was negatively impacted as a result of the flyers and the website. (R. 145 at 62.)

Emancipation Petition

38. While Chandra was at Turn About Ranch, Lisa Anger encouraged Chandra to become emancipated. (R. 131, ¶ 2; R. 145 at 17.)
39. Ms. Anger filled out the emancipation paperwork, and then drove down to Turn About Ranch so that Chandra could sign the emancipation paperwork. (R. 131, ¶ 2; R. 145 at 13, 17.)

40. The emancipation petition was eventually dismissed, as Chandra was sent to live with her Aunt Wendy in Washington State in January of 2007. (Order from Stipulation, Feb. 7, 2007 at 1-2; R. 145 at 41.)
41. The Order sending Chandra to Washington resulted from a stipulation which Lori Allen agreed to, and the court issued an order in conformance with the stipulation. (Order from Stipulation, Feb. 7, 2007; R. 145 at 31, 54.)
42. In conjunction with court proceedings, Lori Allen was interviewed by a reporter from the Salt Lake Tribune and posed for pictures. (R. 145 at 35; *see also* Kirsten Stewart, “Emancipation request splits family: The girl's aunts say she should not remain at ranch for troubled youth.” *The Salt Lake Tribune*, Dec. 16, 2006.)

Additional Contact between Petitioner and Respondent and Respondent’s Family

43. In November of 2006, Lori Allen asked Lisa Anger not to communicate with her children. (R. 145 at 17.)
44. On December 15, 2006, the Juvenile Court ordered, “Lisa Anger, Jeremiah Anger and Wendy Berg are, hereby, restrained from further interfering with Petitioner’s fundamental rights as a parent. Said restraint includes but is not limited to the following: A. Said siblings are to have no unsupervised time or communication with [Lori Allen’s] minor children. . . .” (Order, Dec. 15, 2006 at 1; R. 145 at 20.)
45. On December 30, 2006, Lori Allen let at least one of her daughters spend the night at Lisa Anger’s house. (R. 145 at 49.)

46. On January 6, 2007, Lisa Anger attended Mikayla's (Lori's daughter) soccer game and invited Lori and her children to go ice skating with her and her children that night and they all went. (R. 145 at 49-50, 106.)
47. Lori Allen and Lisa Anger attended two birthday parties together from January to May, 2007. (R. 145 at 41, 111.)
48. On March 10, 2007, Lori and Lisa did a baby shower together for Christina, their sister-in-law, including running games and putting food together. (R. 145 at 40, 112.)
49. On March 31, 2007, Lisa attended Mikayla's soccer game. (R. 145 at 112-113.)
50. On April 8, 2007, the families of Lori and Lisa had an Easter Egg hunt, and celebrated the birthday of a family member. (R. 145 at 113.)
51. On April 20, 2007, the families of Lori and Lisa went on a hike up Aspen Grove at Mount Timpanogous. (R. 145 at 41, 114.)
52. On May 5, 2007, Mikayla spent the night at Lisa's house. (R. 145 at 115.)
53. On June 6, 2007, Lisa attended the school play of Lori's daughters. (R. 145 at 116.)
54. On June 11, 2007, Lori sent Lisa an email stating, "I'm requesting that you and Jeremiah not have any further contact with my children. . . . Do not call my children. Make NO contact with them." (R. 145 at 23.)
55. Lisa's children received presents from Lori on their birthdays: July 10, 2007 and August 6, 2007. (R. 145 at 117.)

56. On August 26, 2007, Lisa Anger came to Lori Allen's home with her kids to bring presents and talk and they stayed over an hour (Lisa Anger says it was 2.5 hours and that she and Lori hugged at the time of the departure). (R. 145 at 50, 117.)
57. On September 21, 2007, Lori called Lisa and they talked for 71 minutes. (R. 145 at 43, 119, 121.) Lori testified that she told Lisa, "[d]on't call me anymore. Don't come over to my house. Leave us alone." (R. 145 at 25.)
58. On October 14, 2007, Lisa and her children stopped by Lori's house to drop off some presents from herself, Wendy, and Chandra. (R. 145 at 119.) Lisa testified that she did not know that Lori and Steve were not home at the time. (R. 145 at 119.)
59. About ten minutes after Lisa arrived, Lori and Steve came home and Lori said something like "I don't think you understand that you can't be here. . . . Will you please leave." (R. 145 at 120; *see also id.* at 26)
60. In late November, 2007, the family agreed that Lisa and Lori should not both attend the Thanksgiving dinner at her parent's home, so Lisa did not attend. (R. 145 at 51.) However, Lisa did come to the house later in the day and went downstairs to where her children were, and where the children of Lori were. (R. 145 at 53.)

Civil Stalking Injunction

61. On November 20, 2007, Lori Allen filed a Request for a Civil Stalking Injunction and Affidavit against her sister, Lisa Anger. (R. 5, 10.)

62. In support of her request for the stalking injunction, Lori Allen alleged as basis for the stalking injunction the incidents regarding the website and the flyers, the unannounced visits, the continued contacts with Lori's children, the encouragement of Chandra to file emancipation papers, and generally interfering with her parental rights. (R. 10, ¶¶ 1-18.)
63. The court granted the request for an ex parte stalking injunction on the day the Request for a Civil Stalking Injunction was submitted and Lisa Anger requested a hearing on December 11, 2007. (R. 12, 18.)
64. The court held two hearings: one on February 11, 2008, and another on May 28, 2008. (R. 144 at 1; R. 145 at 1.)
65. The court determined that Lisa Anger's actions met the requirements for stalking under Utah Code section 76-5-106.5 (2003), and enjoined her from stalking Lori Anger. (R. 131, ¶¶ 13-19.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in its interpretation or application of section 76-5-106.5 when it held that Lisa Anger had committed stalking against her sister Lori Allen. UTAH CODE ANN. (2003). Lisa Anger did not engage in a "course of conduct," which section 76-5-106.5 requires as a prerequisite to a finding of stalking. *Id.* The phrase "course of conduct" is defined as "repeatedly maintaining a visual or physical proximity to a person or repeatedly conveying verbal or written threats or threats implied by conduct or a combination thereof directed at or toward a person." *Id.* In Section I. C., "Fulfilling the

Marshalling Requirement,” Appellant shows that her conduct did not meet the definition of “course of conduct” under section 76-5-106.5. Therefore, Appellant asks this Court to reverse the District Court’s determination that she committed stalking.

ARGUMENT

I. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE DISTRICT COURT TO DETERMINE THAT LISA ANGER HAD COMMITTED STALKING WHERE HER ACTIONS DID NOT MEET THE DEFINITION OF “COURSE OF CONDUCT” UNDER SECTION 76-5-106.5.

The District Court erred in its interpretation or application of section 76-5-106.5¹ when it held that Lisa Anger had committed stalking against her sister Lori Allen. UTAH CODE ANN. (2003). “The proper interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law which [the court] review[s] for correctness, affording no deference to the district court's legal conclusion.” *Gutierrez v. Medley*, 972 P.2d 913, 914-15 (Utah 1998); *Abernathy v. Mzik*, 2007 UT App 259, ¶ 9, 167 P.3d 512. “If a case involves a mixed question of fact and law, [the reviewing court] afford[s] some measure of discretion to the district court's application of” law to facts. *State v. Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, ¶ 26, 63 P.3d 650; *see also Jensen v. IHC Hosps., Inc.*, 2003 UT 51, ¶ 57, 82 P.3d 1076. Appellant’s brief is presented in the following sections: (A) a background of Utah’s law governing civil stalking injunctions; (B) a statutory analysis of the plain language of section 76-5-106.5, which defines stalking; and (C) fulfilling the marshalling requirement.

¹ Section 76-5-106.5 was significantly amended, but not renumbered, in 2008. UTAH CODE ANN. (2003). The 2003 version is cited because it was in effect at the time of the alleged stalking.

A. Background Civil Stalking Injunction Law

1. Procedure governing Civil Stalking Injunctions

A person may petition for an ex parte civil stalking injunction by following the procedures set forth in Utah Code section 77-3a-101.² (2008) The Utah Court of Appeals has summarized the procedures applicable to civil stalking injunctions as follows:

Once a proper petition is filed, and the trial court “determines that there is reason to believe that an offense of stalking has occurred” under section 76-5-106.5, “an ex parte civil stalking injunction may be issued by the court.” *Id.* § 77-3a-101(5); *see id.* § 77-3a-101(1). However, “[w]ithin ten days of service of the ex parte civil stalking injunction, the respondent is entitled to request, in writing, an evidentiary hearing on the civil stalking injunction.” *Id.* § 77-3a-101(6). “At the hearing, the court may modify, revoke, or continue the injunction,” and “[t]he burden is on the petitioner to show by a preponderance of the evidence that stalking of the petitioner by the respondent has occurred.” *Id.* § 77-3a-101(7). In other words, to avoid having the injunction revoked, the petitioner must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that respondent's conduct satisfies the elements of section 76-5-106.5. *See id.* § 77-3a-101(1), (7).

Ellison v. Stam, 2006 UT App 150, ¶ 20, 136 P.3d 1242.

2. Substantive Law Governing Civil Stalking Injunctions

The civil stalking injunction statute in section 77-3a-101 incorporates the definition of stalking found in section 76-5-106.5, which is the criminal stalking statute.

Section 76-5-106.5 defines stalking as follows:

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