2010

Lisa K. Anger v. Lori S. Allen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the issuance of the Civil Stalking Injunction against Lisa Anger because she engaged in a course of conduct directed at Lori Allen that would cause a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress and which, in fact, did cause Ms. Allen to suffer emotional distress.

Before issuing an injunction, the district court must find that 1) that the person "intentionally or knowingly engage[d] in a course of conduct" that would 2) cause a reasonable person to experience fear or emotional distress, and 3) that the victim actually did experience fear or emotional distress as a result of the conduct.

Lisa Anger's repeated, "outrageous," and escalating conduct satisfies the statutory "course of conduct" requirement and would cause a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress. Finally, the district court properly concluded that Lori Allen did, in fact, suffer emotional distress. Therefore, this Court should affirm the injunction.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED UTAH CODE ANNOTATED § 76-5-106.5 WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT LISA ANGER ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF CONDUCT THAT WARRANTED THE ISSUANCE OF A CIVIL STALKING INJUNCTION.

This Court should affirm the trial court's issuance of a civil stalking injunction against Lisa Anger because the injunction satisfied the statutory requirements and was supported by evidence presented to the court.

A. The District Court correctly interpreted the elements of the statutory civil stalking injunction.

Utah law defines "stalking" as conduct in which a person:

- (a) intentionally or knowingly engages in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person:
 - (i) to fear bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or
 - (ii) to suffer emotional distress to himself or a member of his immediate family;
- (b) has knowledge or should have knowledge that the specific person:
 - (i) will be placed in reasonable fear of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or
 - (ii) will suffer emotional distress or a member of his immediate family will suffer emotional distress; and
- (c) whose conduct:
 - (i) induces fear in the specific person of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or (ii) causes emotional distress in the specific person or a member of his immediate family.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-106.5 (2007).

Thus, before issuing an injunction the district court must find that all three elements of the statute are satisfied: 1) the person “intentionally or knowingly engage[d] in a course of conduct” that would 2) cause a reasonable person to experience fear or emotional distress, and 3) the victim actually did experience fear or emotional distress as a result of the conduct. *Id.*; see also *Towner v. Ridgeway*, 2008 UT App 23, 182 P.2d 347.

First, to constitute stalking, a person must “intentionally or knowingly engage in a course of conduct” that would cause a reasonable person to experience fear or emotional distress. Section 76-5-106.5(1)(a) defines “course of conduct” as “two or more acts directed *at or toward* a specific person.” Emphasis added; see also *Abernathy v. Mzik*, 2007 UT App 259, 173 P.3d 512, 516 (Utah App. 2007). Thus, “a person is guilty of stalking as defined in section 76-5-106.5(2)(a)(i)-(ii), if, on two or more occasions, he intentionally engages in conduct that causes a reasonable person to (1) fear bodily injury or (2) suffer emotional distress.” *Abernathy*, 173 P.3d at 516.

Such conduct includes behavior wherein a person “repeatedly maintain[s] a visual or physical proximity to a person *or* repeatedly convey[s] verbal or written threats or threats *implied by conduct* or a combination thereof directed at or toward a person.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The incidents that constitute the

“course of conduct” do not need be close in time or proximity, and they do not require that the victim be within visual or physical proximity with the perpetrator. In fact, in the most recent Utah Supreme Court case to address stalking, issued in March 2008, the court specifically concluded:

[t]he stalking statute does not speak of the timing of the incidents nor does it suggest, explicitly or implicitly, that the parties must maintain an adversarial relationship between incidents. Thus, the two or more events that constitute a course of conduct need not be proximate in time, and intervening conciliatory gestures will not preclude a court from finding a course of conduct.

Towner, 2008 UT App 23 at ¶ 14.

As detailed below, the lower court correctly found that Ms. Anger’s actions did constitute a “course of conduct” because her actions were repeated and directed toward Ms. Allen in such a way to imply a threat.

Although amended after the facts relevant to this case, and, therefore, admittedly not binding on this Court in this decision, in 2008 the Utah Legislature clarified the statutory definition of “course of conduct” to specify more fully what it envisioned as potential stalking conduct. The amended version of § 76-5-106.5 reads:

(b) “Course of conduct” means two or more acts directed at or toward a specific person, including:

(i) acts in which the actor follows, monitors, observes, photographs, surveils, threatens, or communicates to or about a person, or interferes with a person’s property:

- (A) directly, indirectly, or through any third party; and
- (B) by any action, method, device, or means; or
- (ii) when the actor engages in any of the following acts or causes someone else to engage in any of these acts:
 - (A) approaches or confronts a person;
 - (B) appears at the person's workplace or contacts the person's employer or coworkers;
 - (C) appears at a person's residence or contacts a person's neighbors, or enters property owned, leased, or occupied by a person;
 - (D) sends material by any means to the person or for the purpose of obtaining or disseminating information about or communicating with the person to a member of the person's family or household, employer, coworker, friend, or associate of the person;
 - (E) places an object on or delivers an object to property owned, leased, or occupied by a person, or to the person's place of employment with the intent that the object be delivered to the person; or
 - (F) uses a computer, the Internet, text messaging, or any other electronic means to commit an act that is a part of the course of conduct.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-106.5 (2008 amendment). Through this amended language, the Legislature was able to clarify that the “course of conduct” required for a stalking injunction was not limited solely to incidents where the victim was in direct proximity or even personally involved with the perpetrator.

Instead, any conduct, communication, or media targeted toward the victim or those close to her (including coworkers and neighbors) could satisfy the “course of conduct” element of the statute. This Court should look to this clarification not for authority but for guidance in the type of conduct that can be considered “stalking.” In so doing, the Court should affirm the stalking injunction because such a “course of conduct” is clearly shown in the record. In fact, as explained below, Ms. Anger’s conduct falls into five of the six categories articulated in the revised statutory definition.

Second, to satisfy the stalking statute the course of conduct must be the kind that would cause a reasonable person to experience fear or emotional distress. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-106.5. Under Utah law, “emotional distress results from conduct that is ‘outrageous and intolerable in that it offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality.’” *Salt Lake City v. Lopez*, 935 P.2d 1259, 1264 (Utah App. 1997) (quoting *Russell v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 842 P.2d 896, 905 (Utah 1992)(emphasis added)).

When assessing if a course of conduct is sufficiently egregious to warrant the issuance of an injunction, the Utah Court of Appeals has stated that when considering stalking the court should consider “whether a defendant has acted outrageously . . . in light of all of the facts and circumstances of the particular

case.” *Ellison v. Stam*, 2006 UT App 150, ¶ 29, 136 P.3d 1242. In *Ellison*, the defendant argued that his individual actions should be considered separately, rather than in totality. *Id.* Rejecting this analysis, the court stated,

the conduct is rendered more offensive and more threatening because it is repeated. To call someone on the telephone and hang up late at night on one occasion may not rise to the level of outrageous conduct. To do so every ten minutes for a month, however, very well may. In essence, [the defendant] would have the trier of fact consider each telephone call in a vacuum, without reference to the numerous calls that preceded it, to determine whether the conduct is outrageous. We expressly reject that interpretation as being inconsistent with the plain intent of the stalking statute.

Id. at ¶ 28.

Further, an escalation of conduct can also lead the court to conclude that behavior is “outrageous and intolerable” and would reasonably lead to emotional distress. The more direct and aggressive the conduct becomes, the more likely it is to lead the victim to experience emotional distress. For example, in *Abernathy*, the court concluded that because the stalker’s conduct “appeared to be escalating in both hostility and aggressiveness,” it was more likely to result in emotional distress or fear of bodily injury. 2007 UT App 259 at ¶ 14.

This Court should affirm the stalking injunction because, as explained below, Ms. Anger’s conduct was “outrageous and intolerable” and would lead a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress.

Finally, to satisfy the stalking statute the victim must actually experience fear or emotional distress. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-106.5. Utah law does not require that the stalking conduct cause both fear of bodily injury and emotional distress as “only one or the other is required.” *Abernathy*, 2007 UT App 259 at ¶ 12.

This Court should affirm the stalking injunction because, as explained below, Ms. Anger’s conduct did cause Ms. Allen to suffer emotional distress.

B. The District Court correctly concluded that Lisa Anger engaged in a “course of conduct” while stalking Lori Allen.

This Court should affirm the district court’s grant of a civil stalking injunction against Lisa Anger because Judge Howard correctly interpreted and applied the statute when he concluded that Lisa Anger’s repeated conduct constituted a “course of conduct” as required by statute.

Lisa Anger did engage in a course of conduct that would cause a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress. Lisa Anger’s “course of conduct” satisfies both the proximity and threat aspect of the statutory definition. Judge Howard correctly found that the printed flyers distributed by Ms. Anger, her active campaign to emancipate Lori Allen’s daughter against her express wishes, and her unwelcome calls and visits to the Allen home were, at the very least, implied threats against Lori Allen. (R. 127 ¶¶ 1, 2.) In addition to these implied

threats, Judge Howard correctly found that Lisa Anger engaged in a course of stalking conduct by maintaining physical proximity with Lori Allen when she twice came to Ms. Allen's home after Ms. Allen had expressly requested that she not contact either her or her family or come to their residence. (R. 127 ¶ 5.) These four incidents satisfy the statutory definition of a "course of conduct." The fact that there may have been conciliatory gestures between the stalking incidents is immaterial to whether they actually constituted a "course of conduct."

If the Court examines the newly amended statutory definition of "course of conduct," Ms. Anger's conduct falls within five of the articulated categories. She (1) "approach[ed] or confront[ed]" Ms. Allen; (2) "contact[ed] [Ms. Allen's] employer or coworkers; (3) "appear[ed] at [Ms. Allen's] residence" and "contact[ed] [her] neighbors"; (4) "sen[t] material by any means to the person or for the purpose of obtaining or disseminating information about or communicating with the person to a member of the person's family or household, employer, coworker, friend, or associate of [Ms. Allen]; and (5) "use[d] a computer, the Internet, text messaging, or any other electronic means to commit an act that is a part of the course of conduct." The fact that Ms. Anger's conduct is able to satisfy the more specific requirements of the newly amended statutory definition shows that the court below was correct when it concluded

that Ms. Anger's behavior satisfied the lesser conduct requirement, and therefore this Court should affirm the conclusion that Ms. Anger participated in a course of stalking conduct against Ms. Allen. Hence, this Court should uphold the stalking injunction against her.

C: The District Court correctly concluded that Lisa Anger's conduct was "outrageous and intolerable in that it offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality" and caused Lori Allen to suffer emotional distress.

This Court should affirm the stalking injunction against Lisa Anger because her conduct was "outrageous and intolerable" such that it would "offend[] the generally accepted standards of decency and morality" and because it did, in fact, cause Lori Allen to suffer emotional distress.

1. The flyers distributed by Lisa Anger would cause a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress and did, in fact, cause Lori Allen to suffer emotional distress.

Lisa Anger's creation and dissemination of flyers encouraging people, both known and unknown, to contact Lori Allen and pressure her to remove her child from a facility that she believed, as a caring parent, would benefit her child, offends generally accepted notions of morality. Lisa Anger's continued interference with Lori Allen's family and her parenting would cause a reasonable person emotional distress.

Lisa Anger's distribution of information through flyers and over the

internet accusing Lori Allen of improper parenting practices and publicizing personal information about Ms. Allen and her family would cause a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress because it is conduct that “offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality.” Utah courts have repeatedly concluded that parents have a fundamental right to “make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of their children.” *See generally, Jones v. Barlow*, 2007 UT 20, 154 P.3d 808. Hence, third-party interference with a person’s parenting could cause a reasonable person emotional distress as it threatens that fundamental right and responsibility — raising one’s own children as the parent sees fit.

Judge Howard correctly noted this interference in Ms. Allen’s parenting as a primary reason for the issuance of the injunction against Ms. Anger. With regard to the flyers and her involvement with Ms. Allen’s minor daughter, Judge Howard opined: “I believe that that was not a small matter or a harmless matter, but a large and disturbing matter that constituted an assault on the parenting objectives . . . of the petitioner regarding her daughter.” (R. 145 at 150).

Further, including Lori Allen’s private information, including home and work telephone numbers, email addresses, employment information, and photographs, on a widely and publicly distributed flyer for the express purpose

of encouraging viewers to contact Ms. Allen offends notions of morality and would cause a reasonable person emotional distress. In fact, Ms. Allen did suffer both fear and emotional distress based on the flyers. She testified that she feared for her children's safety (R. 145 at 16-17). She also suffered harassment based on these flyers, as she testified that due to that information people called to harass her. (R. 144 at 7, 11). In addition, Ms. Allen feared that she would lose her job because of the information included on the flyers. (R. 144 at 12.)

2. Lisa Anger's interference with Chandra Robb and her facilitation of Chandra's emancipation would offend general notions of morality and, in fact, caused Lori Allen to suffer emotional distress.

Second, Lisa Anger's encouragement and facilitation of Lori Allen's 16-year-old daughter's emancipation would cause a reasonable person emotional distress. Lisa Anger's encouraging Lori Allen's daughter to file emancipation papers at age 16, filling them out and getting Ms. Allen's daughter to sign them, would certainly cause a reasonable parent to suffer emotional distress.

Judge Howard correctly recognized Ms. Anger's interference as a "large and disturbing matter that constituted an assault on the parenting objectives . . . of the petitioner regarding her daughter" and an "assault on the Petitioner's parental rights." (R. 145 at 150; R. 131 ¶ 7.) Such an "assault" would certainly cause a reasonable parent to suffer emotional distress as Ms. Allen did.

3. Lisa Anger's continued contact with Lori Allen's other children despite her express request that she refrain from contacting them would offend general notions of morality and, in fact, caused Lori Allen to suffer emotional distress.

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